L INTRODUCTION 

Mr. Kohen, the Appellant, and Ms. Smith have two children 

together: Anya-Marie, and Lydia-Maayan, (ages 3 and 1 at the time 

of the Trial Court's decision). On Nov. 13, 2013, the Trial Court 

ordered the Children's return to Canada, under the Hague 

Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction. 

Mr. Kohen, a pro se litigant, appeals the decision, in good faith, 

requesting interested parties to aid the parties and Court, in Brief 

regarding these complex issues of Private International Law.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORS 
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11.1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT HAVE AUTHORITY To ORDER THE 

RETURN OF THE CHILDREN 

Error No.1: The Trial Court erred in law, allowing the use of the 

Hague Convention for a one time dust up over a missed flight. 

Error No.2: The Trial Court erred in law disregarding the Choice of 

Court agreement between the parties for the resolution of custody. 

Error No.3: The Trial Court erred in law not requiring all burdens of 

proof be met before concluding it had authority to order the return 

of the children to Canada under the Hague Convention. 

Error No.4: The Trial Court erred in law neither concluding, nor 

attempting to conclude, that Ms. Smith's rights of custody were 

breached under the law of the State in which the Children were 

"habitually resident," (Quebec, Canada), immediately before their 

removal or retention. 

11.2. ERRORS OF PROCESS 

Error No.5: The Trial Court erred in law ordering the return of the 

Children in Summary Judgment, (denying a continuance, and trial), 

even though facts, material under the Convention, were in dispute. 

Error No.6: The Trial Court erred in law, not ordering the dismissal 

of the Petition for the Return of the Children, or at least ordering a 
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more definitive statement. 

II.3. ERRORS OF COMPLIANCE AND DISCRETION 

Error No.7: The Trial Court erred in law. contravening the Hague 

Convention making conclusions regarding Habitual Resdience, but 

disregarding all available facts. 

Error No.8: The Trial Court erred in law making its conclusion 

regarding "Habitual Residence," (specifically in view of duration of 

domicile), according to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and 

Enforcement Act rather than within the meaning of the Convention. 

Error No.9: The Trial Court erred in law concluding that the 

children were Wrongfully Removed, resultant and consequently of 

being Wrongfully Retained. 

Error No.1 0: The Trial Court erred in law concluding that the 

Children were Wrongfully Retained in the United States . 

Error No. 11: The Trial Court erred in law ordering attorney's fees 

in its denial of the Motion to Dismiss. 

Error No. 12: The Trial Court erred in law. consequently, ordering 

attorney's and other fees for the Petition of the Return of the 

Children. 

11.4. ERRORS OF FACT 
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Error No. 13: The Trial Court erred in fact, finding that Mr. Kohen 

did not make any attempts to resolve any issues between himself 

and the petitioner, simply abducted the children without any 

discussion or agreement with, or knowledge of Ms. Smith. 

Error No. 14: The Trial Court erred in fact in its finding of who was 

responsible for the Children's alleged "Wrongful Retention." 

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

II I. 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT HAVE AUTHORITY TO ORDER THE RETURN 

OF THE CHILDREN? 

Issue No.1: Does the Trial Court have authority to order the return 

of the Children, if the mandated Burdens of Proof are not met? 

Issue No.2: Under the Hague Convention, did the Trial Court 

have authority to disregard the Choice of Court agreement between 

the parties? 

Issue No.3: Under the Convention, does a Trial Court have 

authority to define "Habitual Residence," under the laws of the local 

"State," (the UCCJEA in this circumstance), and not make 

determinations of "Habitual Residence" within the meaning of the 
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Convention? 

Issue No.4: Under the Hague Convention, does a Trial Court have 

authority to Order the return of Children without first determining if a 

party's rights of Custody were breached under the law of the State, 

(Quebec, Canada), in which the children were removed? 

Issue No.5: Under the Hague Convention, does a Power of 

Attorney, executed a month and a half after the children arrived the 

United States, constitute as and for Consent and/or Acquiescence 

for the Children to remain in the United States, at least for the 

duration and purpose specified? 

Issue No.6: As an Issue of First Impression, if a Trial Court does in 

fact find that action was wrongful, but the party in question is not at 

fault, does the Trial Court still have authority to order the Return of 

the Children under the Hague Convention? 

111.2. ISSUES OF PROCESS 

Ill.3.lsSUES OF COMPLIANCE AND DISCRETION 

Issue No.7: In the case of infant children, does shared and well

settled parental intent outweigh determinations of Habitual 

Residence found through duration of domicile? 
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Issue No.8: As an Issue of First Impression, if the Trial Court 

concludes that the Removal and/or Retention of the Children was 

wrongful, yet the party in question is not at fault, (as in a case 

where the Retention was unavoidable), does the Trial Court have 

discretion to recognize this scenario as an affirmative defense and 

not order the return of the Children? 

Issue No.9: Even if the Choice of Court agreement between the 

parties is not recognizable, does their act of trying to settle the 

Choice of Court substantiate that both parties had a shared and 

well-settled intent for the children to be in the United States? 

Issue No. 10: As an issue of first impression, can a Trial Court 

conclude that "Wrongfulness" should be assigned to the act of the 

Removal or Retention in question, but not impute "Wrongfulness" to 

a party, as would occur in a case if a Retention is unavoidable? 

Issue No. 11: As an issue of first impression, can a party plead "no

fault" Removal and/or Retention as an affirmative defense so the 

Trial Court does not assign Wrongfulness to the action and the 

resulting decision is neutral in view of custody proceedings? 

111.4. ISSUES OF PROCESS 
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Issue No. 12: Due Process: Under the Convention, did the Trial 

Court have Discretionary Authority to Deny a Continuance, or Trial 

as part of its mandate to ensure the most expeditious procedures 

available? 

Issue No. 13: Vexatious Litigation: Under Washington State Law, 

is it frivolous for a pro 5e litigant to Motion for Dismissal, when the 

bases in fact and bases in common law are clearly apparent? 

Issue No. 14: Habitual Residence: Under the Convention, can 

"Habitual Residence" be changed during a "Sabbatical" by the 

duration of domicile alone? 

Issue No. 15: Abuse of the Convention: Does a Trial Court have 

Discretionary Authority to apply the Hague Convention to a "One 

Time Dust Up"? 

Issue No. 16: Abuse of the Convention: Under the Convention, 

does "Wrongful Retention" equate to "Wrongful Removal" ? 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Dec. 2009. (approx.): As Visitors, Mr. Kohen and his son, (8yrs 
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old), left Washington State, United States to briefly visit Quebec, 

Canada, and then shortly thereafter moved temporarily to Ottawa, 

Ontario, (see CP 18, 19. 24-25. Parties. Children. and History of 

Residence~) . 

2. Feb. 1. 2010: Mr. Kohen and Marie-Catherine Smith got married, 

traveling to Ogdensburg, NY, from Ottawa, Ontario, and returned, 

(see CP 24. History ofResidencesL 

3. Dec. 2009-Aug.2010, (8 mos.): Ms. Smith, Mr. Kohen and his 

son, (8 yrs old), lived in Ontario, Canada, as Visitors, (see CP 24-25. 

History of ReSidences) . 

4. Aug. 2010-Feb.2012. (18 Mos.): The family "settled2" in 

Washington, United States, (see CP 24-25. History alResidences). 

5. Sep. 12. 2010: Anya-Marie Kohen was born in Washington, 

United States, only having U.S. Citizenship, (see CP 19. Involyed 

Children). 

6. Feb, 7. 2012: Ms. Smith, and Anya-Marie, (17 months old), and 

her older brother, (9 yrs o/d), left Washington State, to Ontario, 

Canada, staying with her parents in Bristol, Quebec, (see CP 24-25. 

History of Residence): ~ Ms. Smith mislead the Trial Court, stating 

2 Material Fact: Is the duration at each domicile sufficient enough to determine 
if an infant has become "Acclimatized" to that residence? 
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that she returned to Canada, with the Children, living with her 

parents, to Sponsor Mr. Kohen's and his son's immigration to 

Canada-because "of financial reasons", (See CP 147); .bJ Mr. 

Kohen refuted Ms. Smith's unsubstantiated claim, providing 

evidence to the court that the intention of the visit was temporary, 

as Mr. Kohen accepted a job opportunity in New Jersey so that he 

could establish a residence for the family near the U.S./Canadian 

border to accommodate visits with Ms. Smith's family, see CP ###. 

Mr. Kohen's sizable tax return the following year clearly calls into 

question Ms. Smith's unsubstantiated claim regarding "financial 

issues"-especially so, as Mr. Kohen had only worked a few 

months before Ms. Smith asked him to intervene and returned to 

Canada, see CP ###. 

7. Feb. 21. 2012: Mr. Kohen left Washington State, for New Jersey, 

having accepted a job, (see CP 24. Timeline of Even t$J. 

8. Mar. 15. 2012: Lydia-Maayan Kohen was born in Ontario, 

Canada, (see CP 25. History of Residences) , during Ms. Smith's stay 

with her parents. 

9. Feb. 21. 2012-Jul. 2012: Mr. Kohen frequently traveled to visit 

Ms. Smith and the children, New Jersey, United States to Bristol, 
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Quebec, Canada, every two weeks, according to Ms. Smith, (See 

CP. 148. Ms. Smith's Declaration). 

10. Jun. 23. 2012: Ms. Smith conveyed to Mr. Kohen that she was 

in extreme conflict with her family, stating, "get me out of here 

please," (see CP 24. Timeline of Events). 

11. Jul. 19, 2012: As Ms. Smith's request was urgent, and as Mr. 

Kohen had not yet established a residence for the family, Mr. Kohen 

established a residence for the family in Georgia, United States, _ 

(see CP 24. Timeline of Events). 

12. Jut. 27, 2012, approx.: Ms. Smith attempted to return to the 

children to the United States, (Mr. Kohen's son already being in the 

United States), but was denied entry into the United States, (see 

CP 25. Timeline of Events). 

13. Jul. 27, 2012, approx: Ms. Smith reports to Mr. Kohen that their 

daughter, Anya-Marie, was abducted by her mother and aunt, (see 

CP 25. Timeline of Events). 

14. Jul. 27, 2012: Mr. Kohen purchased a round-trip ticket to 

Ontario, Canada, to return his daughter, (in-lap), to the United 

States, (see CP 25. Timeline of Events). 

15. Aug. 2, 2012: Mr. Kohen arrived in Ottawa, Canada, and both 
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parties pursued support from Campbell's Bay Police, Montreal 

Police, the Children's Aid Society of Ottawa, and the ClSC, (local 

Community Service Center), to ensure the safety of Ms. Smith and 

the children, and to ensure that Ms. Smith was pursuing counseling 

and treatment, (see CP 25. Timeline of Events). 

16. Mr. Kohen was the primary caregiver for the children in Canada 

as he did not have status in Canada, (see CP 178. Ms. Smith's 

Declaration ). 

17. Mr. Kohen convinced Ms. Smith that the children should not be 

separated, See CP, and did not return to Georgia, United States 

with Anya-Marie as planned, (see CP 149. Ms. Smith's Declaration). 

18. Mr. Kohen, and Ms. Smith, made plans to utilize Mr. Kohen's tax 

return to pay for his, and the Children's return to the United States 

around March, 2013, as his "Visitor" status in Canada would expire 

then, (see CP 25. Timeline of Events. CP 149. Ms. Smith's Declaration»). 

19. Feb. 11. 2013: Ms. Smith began making living arrangements for 

Mr. Kohen and the Children in the U.S., while she remained behind 

to file for immigration, (see CP 25. Timeline of Events). 

20. Mar. 13. 2013: Mr. Kohen applied to extend his Visitor's Visa, as 

his Income Tax return was significantly delayed, (see CP 25. Timeline 
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of Events). 

21. Jun. 25. 2013: Mr. Kohen finally received his income tax return 

in the amount of $9,740.00 (USD), (see CP 25. Timeline of Events). ~ 

Mr. Kohen purchased tickets, with Ms. Smith's consent, for 

$1,468.17 for Mr. Kohen and the children departing Montreal on Jul. 

2, 2013, with a return date of Oct. 2, 2013. bJ Mr. Kohen contends 

that the return tickets were purchased because: k.l they were 

Discounted "Priceline" Tickets, and the return tickets only costed 

about $50.00 more.; QJ. As Ms. Smith has not firmly decided which 

country she wanted to live in, Mr. Kohen wanted the opportunity to 

return with the children in the event she changed her mind. ~ And 

primarily, Mr. Kohen wanted to ensure there was an opportunity to 

return in case there was an emergency, as when Ms. Smith 

attempted to return the children to the United States, the year prior, 

she experienced extreme conflict with her family, resulting in severe 

panic attacks, eventually involving the Campbell's Bay Police, 

Montreal Police, Youth Protection, Social Services, and Mr. Kohen 

had to fly to Canada to intervene. 

22. Jul. 2. 2013: Ms. Smith firmly settled to move and immigrate to 

the United States and began the immigration process by having her 
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fingerprints taken for an FBI CJIS background check required for 

immigration, (see CP 125. Exhibit E. FBI Avvlication). 

23. Jul. 2, 2013: Mr. Kohen, and the three children, (Anya-Marie, 

Lydia-Maayan, and their brother), left Canada to return to the 

United States, (see CP 139-140.Exhibit 1. Priceline Tickets). 

24. Jul. 18. 2013: The United States Citizenship and Immigration 

Services received Ms. Smith's Applications to immigrate to the 

United States, (1-129F, and 1-130), (see CP 119-132.Exhibits B-G. 

USCIS Immigration Confirmations). 

25. Aug. 12,2013: Ms. Smith executed a Power of Attorney on Mr. 

Kohen's behalf, appointing him Attorney-In-Fact, explicitly 

stating: "Due to my temporary absence, (pending immigration to the 

United States), I am hereby affirming [Mr, Kohen's] authority with the 

following extents, concerning the children: a. To make and maintain 

applicable life, health, and dental insurance policies. b. To make doctor's 

appointments and make decisions for medical treatment. c. To file and 

make request for United States and Canadian birth certificates, visa, and 

passports for our children. d. To file for and request Social Security 

Numbers within the United States, and Social Identification Numbers in 

Canada. e. To provide enrollment into school and childcare. f To make 
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travel arrangements when necessary. ., . The rights, powers and authority, 

as my Attorney-In-Fact and "Agent", to exercise any and all of the rights 

and powers herein granted shall commence and be in full force and effect 

from July 3rd, 2013,($ee CP 117. Exhibit A. power of Attorney). " The 

Power of Attorney was signed by three witnesses, and sealed by an 

authorized Notary in Quebec. 

26. Aug. 26. 2013: The United States Citizenship and Immigration 

Services received Mr. Kohen's request for expeditious handling due 

to what Mr. Kohen believed was extreme urgent need, (see CP 123. 

Exhibits D. USCIS Expedite Confirmation)' 

27. Sep. 2. 2013: Ms. Smith directed Mr. Kohen to Petition for Legal 

Separation in Washington State, United States, confirming this 

multiple times, (see CP 26. Timeline of Events. and referenced Exhibits) . . 
Sep. 23. 2013: Pursuant to Ms. Smith's continued relationship with 

her co-worker, and at Ms. Smith's insistence, Mr. Kohen Petitioned 

for Legal Separation in Washington State. aJ Ms. Smith 

deliberately falsified statements to the Trial Court that Mr. Kohen's 

Petition for Legal Separation were vexatious, and had she known 

he would do this, she would never have consented for Mr. Kohen to 

remove the children from Canada, (see CP 149. Declaration of Ms. 
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Smith). misleading the Trial Court denying there was a Choice of 

Court Agreement. bJ Mr. Kohen contends: "Of Course" he 

Petitioned for legal Separation, but only because Ms. Smith 

insisted, directed him to do so, refused to address her health, 

because she stated she was abandoning the children, then stated 

that she wanted to separate them, and because she refused to stop 

the extra-marital affair, and stop living with her co-worker, (see CP 

27. Timeline of Events. note there is a clerical error in date. and the 23 rd is 

correct.), 

28. Jut. 2-Sep. 7. 2013: Mr. Kohen became extremely worried and 

afraid for the safety of Ms. Smith, making repeated and desperate 

attempts requesting the assistance of Montreal Police, the local 

Center of Community Services, (ClSC), the Urgence 

Psychosociale-Justice (UPS-J), Ms. Smith's management at Target, 

and when they didn't respond, Mr. Kohen contact Target Global 

Compliance-repeatedly, (see CP 25-26. Timeline of Events)' 

29. Jul. 2-Sep. 7, 2013: Though Ms. Smith had confided in Mr. 

Kohen that she had a relationship with her co-worker, Ms. Smith 

and her boyfriend continued to confirm that she was indeed 

"coming back" to the United States, although she would stay with a 
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friend, or move to Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, nearby, 

(see CP 20-21. Emails. Intentions. etc). 

30. Jul. 2-Sep. 7. 2013: Ms. Smith confided in Mr. Kohen, in 

numerous voice, and video calls, and even emails, that her 

boyfriend was sexually harassing her at work, and harassing her to 

make a decision between him or Mr. Kohen, not taking "No" for an 

answer, (see CP 25-26. Timeline of Events),. 

31. Jul. 2-Sep. 7.2013: Ms. Smith told Mr. Kohen that her boyfriend 

was using alcohol to gain her consent for sex, and had sex with her 

when she was asleep, (passed out), and unaware, (see CP 25-26. 

Timeline of Events). 

32. Jul. 2-Nov., 2013: Mr. Kohen continuously contacted Ms. Smith, 

including email, to confirm her intentions about returning to the 

United States, and sent inquiries about returning to Canada, (those 

were ignored), (see CP 20-21. Email Exhbits). 

33. Nov. 8, 2013: For the first time, 5 days before the hearing, Ms. 

Smith told Mr. Kohen that she was not leaving Quebec, and would 

not be immigrating to the United States, (see CP 21.Email. Questions 

about Care for Children). 

34. Mr. Kohen continually asked Ms. Smith if the children were 
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going to return to an intolerable situation that she had described 

with her boyfriend-all of Mr. Kohen's inquiries about this were 

ignored. (see CP 2 J .Email. Questions about Care for Children). 

IV. ARGUMENTS 

V. A FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED 

SHOULD BE DISMISSED 

L The Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child 

Abduction, U.S. Federal Law, and Hague Convention Precedent 

have all codified that in order to grant the "relief' of ordering the 

Return of the Children, Ms. Smith must at least state claims to fulfill 

the Burden of Proofs to show: gJ. Ms. Smith was exercising Rights 

of Custody at the time of their Removal or Retention, or would have 

if not for the Removal or Retention, AND: .bJ the Children were 

Habitually Resident in Quebec, Canada. from where they were 

removed, or retained from, immediately prior to their Removal or 

Retention, AND: ~ Ms. Smith's is required, by law, to show 

how her rights of custody were breached under the laws of the 

Quebec. and Canada, IF in fact the Habitual Residence of the was 
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Quebec, Canada. 

2. Ms. Smith made no attempt to argue that her rights of custody 

were breached under the law of Quebec, Canada, nor could she as 

Mr. Kohen reaffirmed Ms. Smith's rights of custody by removing the 

Children from Canada and retaining them in the United States

because Ms. Smith directed him to do so-to settle them in the 

United States while she immigrated to the United States. 

3. So what the Children were domiciled in Canada for 18 months? 

So what Ms. Smith was exercising her rights of Custody at the time 

of their Removal? 

4. Neither the Hague Convention, Canada Law, U.S. Law, or case 

precedent, preclude parents from acting together to change the 

Habitual Residence of their family-working together to change 

residence only of the Children shows recognition and reaffirmation 

rights of custody. 

5. As Ms. Smith did not even attempt to show how her rights of 

custody were breached under the law of the State in which the 

Children were removed, she consequently did not fu,lfill ALL 

necessary burdens of proof required by law. 

6. Not fulfilling the Burden of Proof, Ms. Smith had no claim for 
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which the Trial Court could grant an Order for the Children's Return 

under the Hague Convention-and the case should have been 

promptly dismissed-or at the very least the Trial Court should 

have ordered a more definitive statement. 

V.l. THE ALLEGATION OF WRONGFUL REMOVAL IS ABSURD 

L Article 13 of the Hague Convention states that as an affirmative 

defense, it must be shown by clear and convincing evidence that 

the applicant consented or subsequently acquiesced to their 

Removal or Retention, (see Hague Convention. Article 13). 

2. Ms. Smith provided a Power of Attorney consenting to the 

Children's presence in the United States in view of her temporary 

-absence pending immigration to the United States.

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