RECEIVED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION ONE

SEP 17 2014

**No. 71130-0  
COURT OF APPEALS  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I**

---

IN RE: PETITION FOR RETURN OF  
CHILDREN UNDER THE HAGUE  
CONVENTION  
ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF  
INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION

ELIKA KOHEN,

Petitioner / APPELLEE v.

MARIE-CATHERINE SMITH,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Stacy D. Heard  
WSBA No. 28856  
Attorney for Respondent

THE LAW OFFICE OF STACY D. HEARD, PLLC  
520 Pike Tower  
520 Pike Street, Suite 2600  
Seattle, WA 98101  
206.447.8200

##

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

#### **D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, done at The Hague on 25 October 1980 ("the Convention"), and the International Child Abduction Remedies Act ("ICARA"), 42 U. S. C. 11601 et seq., came into effect in the United States on 1 July 1988 set forth the following objects of the Convention:

Article 1 (a): To secure the prompt return of children wrongfully removed from or retained in any Contracting State; and

Article 1 (b): To ensure that rights of custody and of access under the law of one Contracting State are effectively respected in the other Contracting States.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 42 U. S. C. 11603.

The Hague Convention is a treaty, and thus on par with the United States Constitution, superseding state law.

The objects of the Convention are (a) to secure the prompt return of children wrongfully removed from or retained in any Contracting State (Article 1 (a)); and (b) to ensure that rights of custody and of access under the law of one Contracting State are effectively respected in the other Contracting States (Article 1 (b)).

The Convention is enforced in the United States via ICARA. Original jurisdiction is concurrent in both state and federal courts. 42 USC 11601, Sec. 4 (a).

A person seeking to initiate judicial proceedings for the return of a child may file a civil action in the appropriate court in the jurisdiction where the child is located. In this case, the children were located in Snohomish County, Washington at the time the Petition for Return of Children was filed.

Mr. Kohen has not shown that the trial court erred in ordering the children be returned to their habitual residence, Canada. Ms. Smith showed that she did not agree to the retention of the children in the U.S.

and that, but for Mr. Kohen's retention of the children in the U.S., she would have exercised her rights of custody.

**E. ARGUMENT**

**1. Ms. Smith demonstrated to the trial court that her custody rights were breached.**

Mr. Kohen's argument that Ms. Smith failed to show that her rights of custody were breached is without merit. At the time the children were retained in the U.S., Ms. Smith was the children's mother, residing in Canada, the habitual residence of the children. The trial court record substantiates this fact. Further, contrary to Mr. Kohen's assertions, Ms. Smith never directed him to retain the children in the U.S. Again, there is no factual evidence to support this claim.

Mr. Kohen also argues that the Hague Convention does not preclude parents from acting together to change their habitual residence. This argument is irrelevant to the issue before this court, which is whether the trial court erred in ordering the return of the children to their habitual residence, Canada. Mr. Kohen provided no evidence to the trial court that he and Ms. Smith were working together to change their habitual residence *or* that of the children.

Mr. Kohen further argues that because Ms. Smith did not even attempt to show how her rights of custody were breached under

Canadian law, she did not fulfill ALL necessary burdens of proof required by law. This argument also fails for the reasons stated above.

Mr. Kohen did not show that Ms. Smith failed to demonstrate that her custody rights were breached. The trial court record supports Ms. Smith's Petition for Return of Children and the court's order to return the children.

**2. The trial court did not err in finding that Mr. Kohen wrongfully removed the children from Canada.**

Mr. Kohen argues that "the allegation of wrongful removal is absurd." While Mr. Kohen is entitled to his opinion, he cites no legal or factual basis to support this opinion.

The Convention states as follows:

Article 3

The removal or the retention of a child is to be considered wrongful where -

- (a) It is in breach of rights and custody attributed to a person . . . under the law of the State in which the child was habitually resident immediately before the removal or retention; and
- (b) At the time of removal or retention those rights were actually exercised, either jointly or alone, or would have been exercised but for the removal or retention.

The rights of custody mentioned in sub-paragraph (a) above, may arise in particular by operation of law or by reason of a judicial or administrative decision, or by reason of an agreement having legal effect under the law of that state.

In this case, Ms. Smith and Mr. Kohen were residing together

with the children at the time of the wrongful removal, and Ms. Smith was exercising her rights of custody. Ms. Smith agreed for Mr. Kohen to take the children to the U.S. in July and to return in October 2013. But for the wrongful removal from their habitual residence of Canada, Ms. Smith would have exercised her custody rights.

Article 12 of the Convention states:

Where a child has been wrongfully removed or retained in terms of Article 3 and, at the date of the commencement of the proceedings before the judicial or administrative authority of the Contracting State where the child is, a period of less than one year has elapsed from the date of the wrongful removal or retention, the authority concerned shall order the return of the child forthwith.

The record clearly shows that Ms. Smith filed an application for the return of the children through the U.S. State Department on October 3, 2013, just one day after the abduction (Mr. Kohen was to return to Canada with the children on October 2, 2013). The language of the Convention is mandatory: the authority (in this case, the Snohomish County Superior Court), *shall* order the return of the child *forthwith*.

ICARA provides that "Children who are wrongfully removed or retained within the meaning of the Convention are to be promptly returned unless one of the narrow exceptions set forth in the Convention applies. 42 USC 11601 Sec. 2 (4). See also *Perez v. Garcia*, 148 Wn. App. 131, 198 P. 3d 539 (Wash. App. Div. 2 2009).

There are six defenses to an action of wrongful removal or retention of a child under the Convention, none of which apply to this case. Those defenses are set forth in the Articles 12, 13, and 20. These defenses are as follows: (1) more than one year has passed since the wrongful removal or retention, and the child has become settled in his or her new environment; (2) consent or acquiescence by the left-behind parent; (3) the person seeking the return was not actually exercising his or her rights of custody at the time of the removal or retention; (4) the return of the child would expose him or her to a grave risk of harm; (5) the wishes of a mature child; or (6) a return of the child would violate the requested state's fundamental principles relating to the protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms. The first three defenses do not apply. At least one court has stated that the latter two defenses apply only in "extraordinary cases." *Friedrich v. Friedrich* (Friedrich I) 983 F.2d 1396, 1403 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993).

ICARA, rather than the Convention, established the burdens of proof required to establish a defense. See 42 U.S.C. §11601 et seq. In particular:

"a respondent opposing the return of a child has the burden of establishing - (A) by clear and convincing evidence that one of the exceptions set forth in article 13b or 20 of the Convention applies; and (B) by a preponderance of the evidence that any other exception set forth in article 12 or

13 of the Convention applies."

It is important to note that two factors limit the application of defenses to the return of a child. First, the defenses are to be construed narrowly, to avoid undermining the purposes of the Convention. In *Ryder v. Ryder*, the court noted:

"[It was generally believed that courts would understand and fulfill the objectives of the Convention by narrowly construing the exceptions and allowing their use only in clearly meritorious cases, and only when the person opposing return had met the burden of proof. ...[The wording of each exception represents a compromise to accommodate the different legal systems and tenets of family law in effect in the countries negotiating the Convention, the basic purpose of each case being to provide for an exception that is narrowly construed." *Ryder v. Ryder*, 49 F.3d 369 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995).

The second important factor is that even if a defense is established, the defense is not conclusive. The court still retains the discretion to order the return of the child even if a defense has been proven:

"Importantly, a finding that one or more of the exceptions provided by Articles 13 and 20 are applicable does not make refusal of a return order mandatory. The courts retain the discretion to order the child returned even if they consider that one or more of the exceptions applies." Text and Legal Analysis, 51 Fed. Reg. 10494, 10510 (1986); *Friedrich v. Friedrich* (Friedrich II) 78 F.3d 1060, 1067 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996).

If a defense is raised, the Convention allows the court to consider evidence of the child's social background while living in the habitual



residence. See Article 13, paragraph 5. Since the person wrongfully removing the child has easy access to evidence relating to the defenses, the Convention allows the left-behind parent to balance this evidence by submitting background information which bears on the child's life before his or her removal from the habitual residence.

- a. One Year Rule. Does not apply.
- b. Acquiescence or Consent. Does not apply. Ms. Smith did not acquiesce or consent to the children's removal from Canada.
- c. Exercise of Parental Rights. Ms. Smith was exercising her parental rights prior to the abduction.
- d. Grave Risk of Harm. The "grave risk of harm" alleged was that Ms. Smith has mental health issues. The trial court did not err in finding that the accusation was not credible. There was no substantiating evidence for the accusation: no medical records or treatment records. It is apparent that Mr. Kohen used this defense to attempt to justify his abduction of the children, after the fact, by filing a restraining order in the Snohomish County Legal Separation action.

The defense of "grave risk of harm" must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, and still, refusal to return the child is discretionary

with the court. In dealing with the defense of "grave risk," courts in the United States have been restrictive when defining the situations in which the defense might apply. For example, in the case of *In re Coffield*, 96 Ohio App. 3d 52, 644 N.E.2d 662 (1994), the court stated that the defense of "grave risk" must relate to "the environment in which the child will reside upon returning to the home country." In other words, the court considered "environment" to mean the general environment in the country, not the specific home in which the child would reside (that issue being generally left to the domestic courts of the home country, which could then make decisions about custody).

Similarly, in *Currier v. Currier*, 845 F. Supp. 916 (D.N.H. 1994), the court rejected the proposal that a "grave risk" defense was established by evidence that the child's mother was emotionally unable to handle the rigors of raising two infants, and that her estrangement from her own family magnified her alleged unsuitability as a parent. In another case, *Tahan v. Duquette*, 259 N.J.Super. 328, 613 A.2d 486 (App. 1992), the court held that the defense of "grave risk" required the court to evaluate the "surroundings to which [the children] are to be sent and the basic personal qualities of those located there."

Specific dangers to the children must also be considered, provided that those specific dangers are limited to those which could not be

ameliorated by the courts of the child's habitual residence. The Friedrich II court rejected the defense that a return to the child's habitual residence would be "traumatic and difficult" for the child, based on the opinion of a psychologist who testified about the psychological damage that might occur if the child were separated from his mother, and experience anger against both parents. Rejecting this theory as a defense, the court stated:

"Although it is not necessary to resolve the present appeal, we believe that a grave risk of harm for the purposes of the Convention can exist in only two situations. First, there is a grave risk of harm when return of the child puts the child in imminent danger prior to the resolution of the custody dispute - e.g., returning the child to a zone of war, famine, or disease. Second, there is a grave risk of him in cases of serious abuse or neglect, or extraordinary emotional dependence, when the country of habitual residence, for whatever reason, may be incapable or unwilling to give the child adequate protection." *Friedrich v. Friedrich* (Friedrich II), 78 F.3d 1060 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996).

In *Frier v. Frier*, 969 F.Supp. 436 (E.D. Mich. 1996), the court denied a grave risk defense raised on the basis that Israel was a war zone. In that case, the parents had lived in Israel for nearly their whole relationship. Their child had spent all his life in Israel, except for vacations to the United States with his mother (both parents were dual citizens). The abducting mother argued that the frequent skirmishes and bombings, increase of military presence, and constant fear of random violence in the

country should allow her to assert the defense of grave risk. The court stated:

"The Court would agree that at this time Israel is experiencing some unrest and that this unrest may be in relative proximity to the family's residence. However, the Court does not find sufficient evidence in this record for Israel to be the "zone of war" contemplated by the Sixth Circuit of the Hague Convention. No schools are closed, businesses are open, and Petitioner was able to leave the country. It appears that the fighting is limited to certain areas and does not directly involve the city where the child resides." *Id.*, 969 F.Supp. at 443.

See also, *Silverman v. Silverman*, 338 F.3d 886 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 124 S.Ct. 1062 (U.S. 2004), holding the same, particularly since the removing parent had voluntarily lived in Israel for several years with the child, under the same conditions.

In a Massachusetts case, the court found that the existence of domestic violence did not support a 13b defense as it related to the children. While there was some slight evidence that the children may have been mistreated, the court saw this as amounting to corporal punishment for disciplinary purposes. While rejecting the defense, the court stated:

"There are no allegations in this case, much less clear and convincing evidence, that the children are threatened with the degree of harm visited upon the children in *Steffen F. and Turner*. The evidence demonstrates that John is intemperate and often unkind to his children and that he spans and slaps them for minor childish infractions, and of course, there is the constant exposure to verbal and physical conflict within the home. As regrettable, and indeed as

reprehensible as this state of affairs may be, it does not furnish grounds to deny the petition. [Citations omitted] Whatever damage long-term exposure to such a poisonous atmosphere may cause, the evidence does not reveal an immediate, serious threat to the children's physical safety that cannot be dealt with by the proper Irish authorities. [citations omitted].” *In re the Application of Walsh*, 31 F. Supp. 2d 200 (D.C. Mass. 1998).

A case in which return was refused on the basis of the grave risk defense is *Rodriguez v. Rodriguez*, 33 F.Supp.2d 456 (D.C. Md.1999), a case requesting return to Venezuela, in which the court found a detailed history of physical abuse against a child, along with domestic violence against the child's mother. The child abuse included being struck with a belt on the legs, back, and buttocks, being beaten with fists, kicked, and emotionally demeaned on a daily basis, and the violence against the mother included being beaten at least twice a month, being struck with a closed fist, strangling, stomping, and breaking her nose. It was noted by the court that her pleas to the Venezuelan authorities had not resulted in any assistance, because the police would not become involved in "domestic disputes."

Yet even in cases of grave abuse such as just described, the courts still retain the discretion to order the return, and may include safeguards such as allowing the child to return in the custody of the abducting parent or a third party, to ensure the child's safety. *See* the Report of the Second

Special Commission Meeting to Review the Operation of the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction 33 I.L.M. 225 (1994) at 241.

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